2009

Highlands at Jordanelle, LLC, a Utah limited liability company v. BV Jordanelle, LLC, a Utah limited company : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

JURISDICTION OF APPELLATE COURT

The Utah Court of Appeals has jurisdiction over this appeal under Utah Code Ann. § 78A-4-103(2)(j) and pursuant an Order of the Utah Supreme Court entered January 14, 2009.

ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- I. Did the trial court err in ruling that as a private entity The Highlands at Jordanelle may not exercise the right of eminent domain for a public road to its residential development?**

Standard of Review: Legal conclusions used to support a decision on a default judgment are reviewed for correctness. *Chatterton v. Walker*, 938 P.2d 255, 257 (Utah 1997).

Preservation Below: This issue was preserved below in Appellant's Motion and Memoranda filed in the District Court. (R. 38-72, 77-89.)

CONSTITUTIONAL PROVISIONS, STATUTES, ORDINANCES.

The following authorities are determinative or of central importance to this appeal:

1. Utah Code Ann. § 78B-6-501.

(A copy is attached as Addendum 1.)

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Nature of the Case.

Appellant The Highlands at Jordanelle, LLC (the “**Highlands**”) brought suit against neighboring landowner PWJ Holdings, LLC (“**PWJ**”) to secure a right of way to its property via eminent domain. The right of way would be dedicated to Wasatch County as a public road. PWJ failed to file an answer or otherwise respond to the Complaint, and the Highlands filed a Motion for Default Judgment with the District Court in October, 2008. The Court held a hearing on December 2, 2008, which PWJ did not attend. On December 29, 2008, the District Court issued a ruling and order (the “**Ruling**”) in which it denied the Highlands’ Motion, concluding the Highlands lacked authority to exercise the right of eminent domain. The main issue on appeal is whether the Highlands may exercise the right of eminent domain to condemn property for a public road to its residential development.

B. Course of Proceedings.

The Highlands filed this action in the Fourth District Court for Wasatch County to secure a public road to its residential development via eminent domain. When PWJ failed to respond, the Highlands filed a Motion for Default Judgment. The Honorable Derek P. Pullan denied the Motion and ruled that the Highlands lacked authority to condemn property under Utah Law. Judge Pullan entered the Ruling on December 29, 2008 dismissing the Highlands’ case with prejudice. This appeal followed.

By Order entered December 3, 2009, this Court approved the substitution of BV Jordanelle, LLC (“**BV Jordanelle**”) as the Appellee in place of PWJ.

C. Disposition Below.

The District Court entered its Ruling on December 29, 2008 which contained an Order dismissing all of the Highlands’ claims with prejudice. The Court also denied the Highlands’ proposed Judgment by express reference to the Ruling. (*See* Addendum 2.) The Ruling was a final order under Utah R. App. P. 3(a) because it ended the litigation on the merits and left nothing for the District Court to do but execute the judgment. *Crosland v. Peck, et al.*, 738 P.2d 631, 632 (Utah 1987).

STATEMENT OF RELEVANT FACTS

The following statements of fact are taken nearly verbatim from the District Court’s Ruling. They are the undisputed facts as found below upon which the District Court based its Ruling and Order.

1. The Highlands owns certain real property located in Wasatch County, State of Utah (the “**Highlands Property**”). (R. at 106.)
2. The Highlands Property is part of a master planned residential development known as The Highlands at Jordanelle. (*Id.* at 105.)
3. PWJ (now BV Jordanelle) owns real property in Wasatch County, State of Utah (the “**PWJ Property**”) which lies directly [west] of the Highlands Property. (*Id.*)

4. The PWJ Property is part of a larger master planned residential development known as “Talisman.” (*Id.*)

5. Wasatch County approved the master plan for The Highlands at Jordanelle on July 16, 2008. (*Id.*)

6. A public road called the Talisman Parkway crosses the eastern portion of the Talisman development. The Talisman Parkway has been dedicated to Wasatch County as a public road. (*Id.*)

7. The Talisman Parkway comes within 202.9 feet of the Highlands Property. (R. at 105.)

8. The Highlands brought suit to condemn an easement running from the Talisman Parkway, 202.9 feet across the PWJ Property to the Highlands Property (the “**Easement**”). The Easement would be 60 feet wide. (*Id.*)

9. The purpose of the Easement would be for a new public road connecting the Highlands Property to an existing public road, the Talisman Parkway. (*Id.*)

10. The Easement would be used for access to the Highlands Property and the planned residences to be constructed in the development. (*Id.*)

11. The Easement will also be used to install electric, sewer and other utilities. (*Id.* at 104.)

12. As part of the master plan for The Highlands at Jordanelle, Wasatch County approved the proposed access point to the Talisman Parkway at or near the location of the proposed Easement. (*Id.*)

13. As part of the Wasatch County development process, the Highlands is required to dedicate all roads in its development, including the Easement, to Wasatch County as public roads. (R. at 104.)

14. The Wasatch County development code requires the Highlands to have two points of access in and out of the development. The Easement would serve as one of these points of access. (*Id.*)

15. The value of the Easement is \$18,750. (*Id.*)

16. Through its principals and legal counsel, the Highlands made numerous efforts to secure the Easement from PWJ and the other partners in the Talisman development. PWJ refused to discuss it with the Highlands. (*Id.*)

17. On September 23, 2008, the Highlands filed this action. The Complaint states one cause of action entitled “Condemnation.” (*Id.*)

18. The Clerk of the Court signed an Entry of Default against PWJ on October 16, 2008. (R. at 103.)

19. The Highlands filed a Motion for Default Judgment on October 21, 2008. (*Id.*)

20. The Honorable Derek P. Pullan of the Fourth Judicial District Court for Wasatch County, State of Utah, entered a Ruling on December 29, 2008 denying the Highlands' Motion. (*Id.*)

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS

Under Utah case law dating back more than 100 years, condemnations by private persons and entities have been upheld repeatedly under Utah Code Ann. § 78B-6-501 and its predecessor statutes. The focus of inquiry in those cases, as in the statute itself, is whether the property is sought to be condemned for a “public use” enumerated in the statute. At least 2 of those Utah Supreme Court decisions were challenged and upheld in the United States Supreme Court. Because the property sought to be condemned here is for a clear public use – a road, street, or byroad – the statute gives the Highlands the right of eminent domain.

Established principles of statutory construction require a reversal of the District Court's interpretation. Nowhere does Section 78B-6-501 state a limitation on *who* may exercise the right of eminent domain. Rather, it focuses on whether the proposed *use* is a “public use.” If the Legislature meant to limit the right of eminent domain to only government entities, it easily could have stated that intent, but has not done so. Separate statutes giving eminent domain authority to counties, cities, and towns for specified purposes do not change the meaning of Section 78B-6-501.

Moreover, in the face of numerous Utah Supreme Court decisions approving condemnations by private parties, the Utah legislature has never amended Section 78B-6-501 or its predecessors to limit the right of eminent domain to government entities. Thus, the Legislature is presumed to have been satisfied with those prior judicial interpretations of the statute and to have adopted them as consistent with its own intent.

The “necessary implication” reasoning of the District Court misunderstands the case law described above. Utah decisions approving private condemnations for the development of water and mineral resources have focused on the importance of those resources to the general public good, thereby concluding the proposed condemnations were for “public uses.” The cases cannot be read as concluding that private parties can only exercise the right of eminent domain in the context of water and mineral resources. The statute expresses no such limitation. And the proposed use of the Easement here as a public road is unquestionably a “public use.”

Finally, there can be no legitimate concern that the Easement will end up permanently in private ownership. The Highlands is required to dedicate the Easement to Wasatch County as a public road, and it would be one of two required public accesses to the development. Utah’s eminent domain code allows the District Court to determine a reasonable time within which the Highlands would be required to complete the use specified, *i.e.* to dedicate the Easement as a public road. If not, the District Court could enter judgment vesting title to the property in BV Jordanelle.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE HIGHLANDS HAS THE RIGHT TO ACQUIRE THE EASEMENT VIA EMINENT DOMAIN.

Utah's eminent domain statute is found at Utah Code Ann. § 78B-6-501, *et seq.* Section 78B-6-501 provides in part as follows:

“Subject to the provisions of this part, the right of eminent domain may be exercised on behalf of the following public uses:

(3)(e) roads, streets, and alleys for public vehicular use . . .;

(f) all other public uses for the benefit of any county, city, or town, or its inhabitants;

* * *

(7) Byroads leading from highways to residences and farms.

Utah Code Ann. § 78B-6-501. It is significant to note that the statute defines the right of eminent domain in terms of the *uses* for which the right may be exercised, and not in terms of *who* may exercise it.

A. Utah Eminent Domain Cases.

For more than 100 years Utah cases have allowed private parties to exercise the right of eminent domain where the proposed use was a “public use.” In *Nash v. Clark*, 27 Utah 158, 75 P. 371 (1904), the Utah Supreme Court upheld a condemnation by a private party. Mr. Nash was a farmer who sought to condemn a right of way over

his neighbor's property to extend an irrigation ditch and supply water to his farm. The defendant argued the farmer's use of eminent domain was unconstitutional, contending it was strictly for a private use. The Court's analysis focused on whether the condemnation was for a public use and not whether the condemnor was a public or private person. On the issue of public use, the Court stated:

One class of authorities, in a general way, holds that by public use is meant a use by the public or its agencies – that is, the public must have the right to the actual use in some way of the property appropriated; whereas the other line of decisions holds that it is a public use within the meaning of the law when the taking is for a use that will promote the public interest, and which use tends to develop the great natural resources of the common wealth. After a careful examination of the leading cases on this subject, *we are of the opinion that the class of decisions last mentioned are more in harmony with enlightened public policy, and the liberal interpretation given to the term "public use" which the Legislature has, in effect, declared shall be followed in this state . . .*

Id. (emphasis added). The Court held irrigation was a public use under the Utah eminent domain statute, and therefore it was a proper exercise of eminent domain power. *Id.* at 374.

The Court in *Nash v. Clark* did not explicitly address the question of whether the private farmer, Mr. Nash, could exercise the right of eminent domain, but implicitly approved his right to do so under the statute then in effect, a predecessor to Utah Code Ann. § 78B-6-501. If the right were in question because Nash was a private individual and not a government entity, the Court undoubtedly would have addressed the issue. Since then *Nash* has been cited for the proposition that Utah's statute allows private persons to exercise the right of eminent domain.

The eminent domain statute construed in *Nash* had the same introductory clause as the current statute: “Subject to the provisions of this chapter the right of eminent domain may be exercised on behalf of the following public uses . . .” *Nash*, 75 P. at 371 (*quoting* Rev. St. 1898, § 3588). (A copy of the 1898 statute is attached as Addendum 3.) Thus, the focus of the Court’s analysis then, just as it should be now, was whether the use was a “public use” under the eminent domain statute. Moreover, it is clear the Court understood that a private farmer was exercising the right of eminent domain to get water to his land. There could be no mistake as to his private status and there is no suggestion he was acting on behalf of a government entity or agency. The Court stated: “The only possible way *the farmer* can supply *his land* with water is by conveying it by means of ditches across his neighbor’s lands which intervene between his own and the source from which he obtains his supply.” *Id.* at 374 (emphasis added).

The decision in *Nash v. Clark* was then reviewed by the United States Supreme Court on this very issue. *Clark, et al. v. Nash*, 198 U.S. 361 (1905). The appellant argued the proposed use “is not a public use, and that, therefore, [Nash] has no constitutional or other right to condemn the land, or any portion of it . . . for that purpose.” *Id.* at 367. However, the Court agreed with the Utah Supreme Court and held as follows:

We are, however, as we have said, disposed to agree with the Utah court with regard to the validity of the state statute which provides, under the circumstances stated in the act, for the condemnation of the land of one individual for the purpose of allowing another individual to obtain water from the stream in which he has an interest, to irrigate his land, which otherwise would remain absolutely valueless.

Id. at 369 (emphasis added). Thus, the United States Supreme Court likewise interpreted the Utah statute to allow private persons to exercise the right of eminent domain if it is for a public use.¹

In *Highland Boy Gold Mining Co. v. Strickley*, 28 Utah 215, 78 P. 296, 298 (1904), the Utah Supreme Court upheld a private condemnation of a road for the plaintiff's mining operations. It held that "the construction of roads and tramways for the development of the mining industry is a public use." *Id.* at 298. Here, as in *Nash*, the focus of the Court's analysis was whether the right of eminent domain was being exercised for a public use. The plaintiff who sought to exercise that right was obviously a private mining company and the Court expressed no concern about whether the company had the right to do so, but instead focused on whether the right was being exercised for a public use. As referenced above, the Utah statute channels the analysis precisely in that direction. It does not limit who may exercise the right but simply asks whether it is exercised for a public use. *See* Utah Code Ann. § 78B-6-501. The United

¹ In *Kelo v. City of New London*, 545 U.S. 469 (2005), the United States Supreme Court held that under the United States Constitution a condemnation need not result in actual public ownership or use but must merely serve a "public purpose." *Id.* at 479-80. "Without exception, our cases have defined that concept broadly, reflecting our longstanding policy of deference to legislative judgments in this field." *Id.* at 480 (emphasis added). "The public end may be as well or better served through an agency of private enterprise than through a department of the government." *Id.* at 486 (*quoting Berman, et al v. Parker, et al.*, 348 U.S. 26, 33 (1954)). The Court concluded that because the proposed condemnation of private property "unquestionably serves a public purpose, the takings challenged here satisfy the public use requirement of the Fifth Amendment." *Kelo*, 545 U.S. at 484.

States Supreme Court also affirmed this decision, holding the Utah statute constitutional. *Strickley, et al. v. Highland Boy Gold Mining Co.*, 200 U.S. 527, 531-32 (1906) (citing *Clark, et al. v. Nash*, 198 U.S. 361 (1905)).

The Utah Supreme Court approved the private condemnation of a mining tunnel in *Monetaire Mining Co. v. Columbus Rexall Consolidated Mines Co., et al.*, 53 Utah 413, 174 P. 172 (1918). The plaintiff was a private mining company which sought to condemn the right to use a mining tunnel in common with the defendants. The Court held that the eminent domain statute (Comp. Laws 1907, § 3588) was meant “to declare mining generally and the development of mines and mineral deposits a public use, in furtherance of which the right of the exercise of eminent domain was applied with full force and effect.” *Id.* at 175. With that broad statement of public use, the Court then concluded as follows:

If appellant’s application merely involved the exercise of the right of eminent domain to construct a tunnel through, or a road or passageway over, respondent’s mining claims, . . . no one would either question or doubt appellant’s right to condemn the right for such purposes.

Id. (emphasis added). Thus, because the company could clearly condemn its own new mining tunnel, it could certainly condemn an easement to use the defendant’s existing tunnel in common. *Id.* Once again, the Utah Supreme Court concluded a private company could exercise the right of eminent domain if it was for a public purpose under the statute. And the statute was again organized in the same fashion as previous versions with an identical introductory clause. *Id.* at 174-75.

The next significant decision on this issue is *Alcorn v. Reading*, 66 Utah 509, 243 P. 922 (1926). There the Utah Supreme Court reviewed a claim of easement by necessity for an irrigation ditch and the right of eminent domain in that context. The Court cited to its earlier opinion in *Nash v. Clark* and summarized the holding of that case as follows:

The right of condemnation for such purposes is thereby allowed without regard to whether the right is sought by the public or by a private individual.

Id. at 926 (emphasis added) (citing *Nash v. Clark*, 27 Utah 158, 75 P. 371 (1904)). The Court in *Alcorn* went on to hold that an easement by necessity is unenforceable where there is a right to condemn, but that holding was subsequently overruled in *Adamson, et al. v. Brockbank, et al.*, 112 Utah 52, 185 P.2d 264, 274 (1947). Yet both the holding in *Nash v. Clark* and *Alcorn's* recital of it remain undisturbed.

Later that same year, the Utah Supreme Court addressed the issue more directly, and held Utah's statute allows private parties to exercise the right of eminent domain. In *Utah Copper Co. v. Montana-Bingham Consolidated Mining Co.*, 59 Utah 423, 255 P. 672 (1926), the plaintiff filed an action "to condemn a right of way and easements" over the defendant's mining claims. *Id.* at 673. The defendant argued "that the plaintiff, under the statute, was not entitled to exercise the right of eminent domain" *Id.* At a hearing on the plaintiff's motion for order of immediate occupancy, the defendant presented evidence challenging the plaintiff's right to condemn. *Id.* at 675. The trial court nevertheless granted the order of immediate occupancy. *Id.* at 675-76.

On appeal, the Utah Supreme Court was asked to consider whether the order was final or interlocutory. In reaching the conclusion it was interlocutory, the Court held the eminent domain statute allows private parties to condemn. The Court stated as follows:

[U]nder a statute such as we have, giving an individual or mere private corporation not engaged in public service the right to exercise eminent domain under the circumstances enumerated in the statute, we think the landowner whose property is sought to be condemned and taken, has, as against such a condemnor, an undoubted right to controvert and contest the taking and necessity therefor.

Id. at 677 (emphasis added).² The Utah Supreme Court thus interpreted Utah's eminent domain statute to allow the exercise of eminent domain power by private persons if it is for a public purpose enumerated in the statute. It is important to note that the statute cited in *Montana-Bingham* (Comp. Laws Utah 1917, § 7330), *id.* at 673, is very similar to Section 78B-6-501 and begins with a nearly identical introductory clause: "Subject to the provisions of this chapter, the right of eminent domain may be exercised in behalf of the following public uses" Compare § 7330 (see Addendum 4) with Utah Code Ann. § 78B-6-501.

In *Utah Copper Co. v. Stephen Hayes Estate, Inc., et al.*, 83 Utah 545, 31 P.2d 624 (1934), a private mining company sought to condemn certain property for use "in aid of mining." *Id.* at 625. In upholding the condemnation by a private company, the Utah Supreme Court held that the eminent domain "statute must be construed . . . and

² Because the Defendant had the right to challenge such a condemnation, whether by a public or a private condemnor, it should have had the opportunity to do so at trial. Thus, the order of immediate occupancy was interlocutory. *Id.*

applied to any particular case *with as much liberality as its language may permit in order to carry out the purpose which the legislative power had in mind, which was to declare mining generally a public use in aid of which the power of eminent domain may be invoked.*” *Id.* at 627 (emphasis added). The Court interpreted the same statute: Comp. Laws Utah 1917, § 7330. *Stephen Hayes*, 31 P.2d at 627; *compare* Addendum 4.

In *Jacobson, et al. v. Memmott, et al.*, 11 Utah 2d 16, 354 P.2d 569 (1960), a private company and a private individual sought to condemn a roadway for mining operations. The eminent domain claim was based upon the statute then codified as Utah Code Ann. § 78-34-1, which read the same as it does today: “Subject to the provisions of this chapter, the right of eminent domain may be exercised in behalf of the following public uses” *Id.* at 570 n.1. The Utah Supreme Court upheld the condemnation by the two private plaintiffs and again focused its analysis on roadways to mining deposits as being a public use and proper subjects for condemnation. *Id.* at 570-71.

The cases discussed above are a series of Utah decisions each upholding condemnation of an interest in real property by a private individual or corporation. In each case, the eminent domain statute was materially identical to today’s statute found at Utah Code Ann. § 78B-6-501. Each case supports the position of the Highlands on this appeal.

B. Other Authorities.

A private party’s right to condemn property for enumerated public uses has also been recognized in other jurisdictions and by secondary authorities. In *Glenbrook Homeowners Association, Inc. v. Pettitt, et al.*, 919 P.2d 1061 (Nev. 1996), the Nevada

Supreme Court approved a similar exercise of the right of eminent domain by a private landowner. The Glenbrook Homeowners Association, a private corporation, sought to improve the existing access to its residential development by condemning property of an adjoining landowner. *Id.* at 1061-62. The Nevada eminent domain statute is materially identical to the Utah statute, and states as follows: “Subject to the provisions of this chapter, the right of eminent domain may be exercised in behalf of the following public purposes: . . . (7) Byroads. Byroads leading from highways to residences and farms.” *Id.* at 1063 (*quoting* N.R.S. § 37.010). The defendant challenged the Association’s right to exercise the power of eminent domain and argued that to do so “an entity must be a specifically delegated condemnation authority.” *Glenbrook*, 919 P.2d at 1063.

The Nevada Supreme Court reviewed its prior decisions interpreting the statute, and ruled that those decisions addressed the “public purpose” for which condemnation powers could be exercised “rather than the identity of the party exercising the power.” *Id.* Once the public purpose was established, “*the power of the private company to condemn the property for that purpose was recognized, even though the statute did not expressly state that a private company was authorized to exercise such power.*” *Id.* (emphasis added). If the Nevada legislature had intended to limit the power of eminent domain “it would have expressly done so.” *Id.* Based thereon, the Nevada Supreme Court ruled that the Association had the right to “condemn the property necessary to correct the defective condition of the byroad.” *Id.*

The Nevada Court also considered other provisions of its eminent domain statute which are also virtually identical to the Utah statute. Specifically, the Court

considered N.R.S. § 37.070(2) which outlines the required contents of a condemnation complaint. It states: “The name of the corporation, association, commission or person in charge of the public use for which the property is sought, who must be styled plaintiffs.” *Glenbrook*, 919 P.2d at 1063 n.1. The Court held the words the “person in charge of the public use for which the property is sought” indicate the statute contemplates that “entities other than government agencies are authorized to condemn property, as long as the planned use constitutes a public use.” *Id.* at 1063. Utah’s statute contains identical language. *See* Utah Code Ann. § 78B-6-507(1)(a).

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