2009

Highlands at Jordanelle v. BV Jordanelle : Brief of Appellee

Utah Supreme Court

Follow this and additional works at: https://digitalcommons.law.byu.edu/byu_sc2



Part of the [Law Commons](#)

Original Brief Submitted to the Utah Supreme Court; digitized by the Howard W. Hunter Law Library, J. Reuben Clark Law School, Brigham Young University, Provo, Utah; machine-generated OCR, may contain errors.

Michael R. Johnson; Matthew M. Cannon; Ray, Quinney, and Nebeker; Attorney for Appellee .
Matthew C. Barneck; Paul P. burghardt; Richards, Brandt, Miller, Nelson; Attorney for Appellant .

Recommended Citation

Brief of Appellee, *Highlands at Jordanelle v. BV Jordanelle*, No. 20090031.00 (Utah Supreme Court, 2009).
https://digitalcommons.law.byu.edu/byu_sc2/2887

This Brief of Appellee is brought to you for free and open access by BYU Law Digital Commons. It has been accepted for inclusion in Utah Supreme Court Briefs by an authorized administrator of BYU Law Digital Commons. Policies regarding these Utah briefs are available at http://digitalcommons.law.byu.edu/utah_court_briefs/policies.html. Please contact the Repository Manager at hunterlawlibrary@byu.edu with questions or feedback.

IN THE UTAH SUPREME COURT

THE HIGHLANDS AT JORDANELLE,
LLC, a Utah limited liability company,

Appellant,

v.

BV JORDANELLE, LLC, an Idaho limited
liability company,

Appellee.

Appellate Case No.: 20090031

SUPPLEMENTAL BRIEF OF APPELLEE

Appeal from a Final Order of the Fourth Judicial District Court
for Wasatch County, Judge Derek P. Pullan Presiding
Civil No. 080500561

Matthew C. Barneck (5249)
Paul P. Burghardt (10795)
RICHARDS BRANDT MILLER NELSON
Wells Fargo Center, 15th Floor
299 South Main Street
P.O. Box 2465
Salt Lake City, Utah 84110-2465
Telephone: (801) 531-2000
Fax No.: (801) 532-5506
matthew-barneck@rbmn.com
Paul-burghardt@rbmn.com
Attorneys for Appellant

Michael R. Johnson (7070)
Matthew M. Cannon (11265)
RAY QUINNEY & NEBEKER P.C.
36 South State Street, Suite 1400
Salt Lake City, UT 84111
Telephone: (801) 532-1500
Facsimile: (801) 532-7543
mjohnson@rqn.com
mcannon@rqn.com
Attorneys for Appellee

This Supplemental Brief is being filed pursuant to the Court’s Order, dated June 28, 2010 (the “**June 28 Order**”). In the June 28 Order, the Court noted that, because it had recalled this appeal from the Court of Appeals, the parties would “be permitted to submit supplemental or replacement briefs if they choose.” The Court also directed that, if Appellee elected to file a supplemental or replacement brief, it needed to do so by no later than August 25, 2010.

RECENT LEGISLATIVE HISTORY DEMONSTRATES THAT PRIVATE LANDOWNERS ARE NOT AUTHORIZED TO EXERCISE EMINENT DOMAIN UNDER THE EMINENT DOMAIN ACT

This Supplemental Brief focuses on recent legislative amendments to one of the condemnation statutes at issue in this case. In particular, during the 2010 General Session, the Utah State Legislature passed Senate Bill 122 (the “**Bill**”), which made amendments to Utah Code Ann. § 78B-6-501 (the “**Statute**”). The Statute—which is the first section of the Eminent Domain Act, Utah Code Ann. §§ 78B-6-501 through 522—addresses the uses for which the right of eminent domain may be exercised under Utah law. One of the defined statutory uses is byroads leading from a highway to a residence, development or farm. Statute, § 78B-6-501(7).

During the committee meetings and floor debates addressing the Bill, the Bill’s sponsors and other legislators made various comments strongly supporting Appellee BV Jordanelle’s (“**BV**”) position that private landowners do not have the express or implied authority to exercise eminent domain for the use proposed by Appellant here; i.e., for a byroad leading from a highway to a private residential subdivision. Indeed, the legislators commenting on this issue were uniform in their understanding that only

governmental entities could exercise this tremendous power for such a use. The legislators' comments should come as no surprise.

As was explained in BV's initial brief to the Court, a private party must have direct authority from the legislature in order to exercise eminent domain. *See* 1A-3 Nichols on Eminent Domain § 3.03(1) ("The right to authorize the exercise of eminent domain is a legislative power. In the absence of direct authority from the legislature, there can be no taking of private property for a public use, except in cases where the owner consents to the taking."). And although the right to exercise eminent domain may be delegated to a private entity, such a delegation "must be affirmatively shown either by express words or by necessary implication." *Id.* at § 9(a). The necessity from which an implied grant of authority might arise must be compelling, *see id.* at § 3.03(3)(d), and a grant of eminent domain authority to a private party may only be implied where "any other construction of the statute or statutes involved would render worthless or seriously impair the grant of power to condemn for the given purposes," *Bertagnoli v. Baker*, 215 P.2d 626, 628 (Utah 1950).

The statutes at issue in this case fall far short of demonstrating any express or implied delegation to private parties for the purpose of condemning land for construction of a byroad to a residential development. Instead, the statutes comprising the Eminent Domain Act can be read in harmony only when interpreted as authorizing public entities to exercise eminent domain for such a use—not private entities. *See, e.g.*, Utah Code Ann. § 78B-6-505(1) ("[B]efore *taking a final vote* to approve the filing of an eminent domain action, [the party seeking to acquire property shall] make a reasonable effort to

negotiate with the property owner for the purchase of the property.”) (emphasis added). In any event, denying private parties the authority to exercise eminent domain to condemn property for a byroad will not render worthless or meaningless Section 501 of the Eminent Domain Act because, of course, the State or its political subdivisions can always exercise the power for that same purpose when they deem such an action to further the public good. *See Bertagnoli*, 215 P.2d at 628.

But even if the plain language of the statutes at issue here were somehow ambiguous regarding the lack of authority for a private party to exercise eminent domain and thereby condemn property for a byroad, the legislative history and other policy considerations erase any doubt. *See Summit Water Distrib. Co. v. Summit Cnty.*, 2005 UT 73, ¶ 17, 123 P.3d 437 (“[I]f we find ambiguity in the statute’s language, we look to legislative history and other policy considerations for guidance.”) (internal quotations omitted).

The stated purpose of the Bill was to codify what was already being done in practice: public entities were exercising eminent domain and condemning property for *proposed* residences and developments, and not just *completed* residences and developments, because byroads to the development needed to be built before the development itself was built. (*See* Bill, a copy of the enrolled version of which can be found at App. 1-4, attached hereto.) In other words, the Legislature wanted to clarify that a public entity (a city, for example) could exercise the power of eminent domain to condemn property for a public road or byway that would serve a residential development, even if the residential development had not yet been completed. In explaining and

debating these changes to the Statute, various legislators provided significant insights into their understanding of the Eminent Domain Act and who was authorized to exercise this power. For example:

- First, during the Utah House Transportation Standing Committee Meeting on February 17, 2010, Senator Adams, a co-sponsor of the Bill, engaged in the following exchange with Representative Mascaro:

Adams: You know, I'm not familiar enough with statute to quote, you know, the section, but I think if you've used eminent domain, you understand there has to be public hearings, uh, actual public purpose, need, those types of issues that are, that are taken care of in those public processes. And I'd have to find that supposed location statute, but I think if you, if you, if you experience that, and again, I-, *there are very few entities that can use eminent domain. I think the comment of Representative Wallis was, uh, was pretty accurate because the only people that can use this, again, are, are the federal government, the state government, and basically, cities and towns.* And this doesn't expand that power at all; it simply allows those entities to use it in a-, in that process, so, so I'm a little confused to how you could use it if you weren't using it through, uh, you know, *if it wasn't a city or town.*

Mascaro: Okay. And so the comment you just made that it's only really able to be used by cities or towns, there's not-, I'm not reading in here that it's proposing that anyone other than cities or town or any other government agency is able to do this. It, it doesn't allow someone other than a government agency to utilize eminent domain, does it? These changes-, I don't see that on here.

Adams: No, again, it just codifies what's existing in practice. If your-, cities and towns are doing this, but *it doesn't allow for anybody in the private sector to do that.* That would be [inaudible]-

Mascaro: Oh, I see. I understand.

Adams: *That would be something that would be inappropriate.*

Utah House Transportation Standing Committee Meeting, S.B. 122, 58th Leg., Gen. Sess. (Feb. 17, 2010) (Statements of Senator Adams and Representative Mascaro) (emphasis added).¹

- Second, when the Bill was debated on the floor of the House of Representatives, Representative Morley, the other co-sponsor of the Bill, engaged in the following exchange with Representative Powell:

Powell: Thank you. Just wondering on line 79. It looks like there was an amendment added in the bill referencing a settlement of not less than 10 families. Representative, I wonder if that um--is that implying that some group other than city or town would have eminent domain authority?

Morley: Uh, no. *It's my understanding that the, that eminent domain has to be for public good and can only be exercised by the federal government, state government or subdivision of the state.*

House Floor Debate, S.B. 122, 58th Leg., Gen. Sess. (Feb. 18, 2010) (Statements of Representatives Morley and Powell) (emphasis added) (App. 10-11).

- Finally, when the Bill was debated on the Senate floor, Senator Adams and Senator Buttars said the following:

Buttars: The word eminent domain sends a chill down my back.

Adams: I agree.

Buttars: I think it should be roped and lassoed and chained at all times.

¹ A transcript of this meeting, prepared by BV, is attached hereto as App. 5-9. The Appendix contains transcripts of the other legislators' comments cited herein. (See App. 10-14.) BV has also submitted a CD ("**SB122 Audio Files on CD**") which contains the audio files provided by the Utah Legislature on its webpage addressing the Bill. These audio files can also be accessed by the Court and its staff at: <http://le.utah.gov/~2010/htmdoc/sbillhtm/SB0122.htm>.

Uh, does this bill open up additional access to the use of eminent domain?

Adams: This bill clarifies what is currently being used and makes sure that uh, if there is a proposed project that eminent domain can be used for that if and when it meets that high standard, the standard, that bar that we've set as a legislature.

Buttars: Remind me what that standard is, would you?

Adams: I'm not aware of that exact standard but I do know that there is a process that each jurisdiction goes, that we go through as a state, that the federal government goes through and that local jurisdictions go through in order to determine the public need for that process.

Senate Floor Debate, S.B. 122, 58th Leg., Gen. Sess. (Feb. 19, 2010) (Statements of Senators Adams and Buttars) (emphasis added) (App. 12-14).

These statements provide persuasive evidence that the Utah State Legislature has authorized only public entities to exercise eminent domain under the Statute and Eminent Domain Act to condemn private property for a road, byroad, street or alley.

Significantly, there were no objections made to the comments cited above, nor any other comments suggesting that private parties could exercise this power. (*See* SB 122 Audio Files on CD, submitted herewith.) As explained above, this Court need not look to the legislative history to make its determination because of the lack of an express or implied delegation in the Eminent Domain Act. However, should the Court choose to look to legislative history, this history shows a uniform understanding that only public entities may exercise this awesome power when the use at issue is the use being proposed by Appellant. This legislative history, coupled with the policy considerations outlined in

BV's original brief,² erases all doubt as to the proper resolution of this matter. Judge Pullan's Order dismissing Appellant's Complaint should be affirmed.

CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, this Court should affirm the rulings of the district court in this matter.